
Summons to Meeting

Thursday 18 April 2019

Development Panel
Tuesday 30 April 2019, 1.00 pm

Theatre - The Wave Centre, Maryport
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502.

Agenda
Site Visit  
The following site visit will take place:

2/2018/0537- Land at The Fitz, Low Road, Cockermouth- Outline application for 
residential development of 27 dwellings including access junction, layout and 
appearance for plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping for buffer zone only.

Members of the Development Panel will be picked up from The Wave Centre, 
Maryport.

The Bus departs at 10:30am

1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 10)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 05 March 2019.

2. Apologies for Absence  

Page 1



3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

5. 2/2018/0537- Land at The Fitz, Low Road, Cockermouth- Outline application 
for residential development of 27 dwellings including access junction, 
layout and appearance for plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping for buffer 
zone only.  (Pages 11 - 44)

6. FUL/2019/0014- Firth View, Dearham, Maryport- Siting of a static caravan as 
living accommodation  (Pages 45 - 56)

7. FUL/2019/0047- Firth View, Dearham, Maryport- Erection of boarding 
kennels for new business  (Pages 57 - 66)

Corporate Director

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 4 June 2019, 1.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 5 March 2019 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Joseph Cowell Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Ron Munby MBE
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong, Councillor 
Mark Jenkinson and Councillor David Wilson

Staff Present

L Jardine, S Long, A Seekings, S Sewell and S Sharp

393. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22nd January 2019 were signed as a correct 
record.

394. Declaration of Interests 

7. TPO/2018/12 - Tree Preservation Order for T1 Beech Tree, Land north of 
Friar Row, Caldbeck.

Councillor Tony Annison; Other Interest; Previously made a presentation 
in connection with this application.

395. Questions 

None Received

396. 2/2018/0532 Residential development for 5 detached dwellings including 
associated infrastructure and landscaping, Land at Ellerbeck Brow, 
Brigham, Cockermouth 

Representations

Nick Cockton spoke against the application

Cllr Dr Mark Greaves spoke on behalf of Brigham Parish Council

Application

The report recommended refusal

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues in the report as 
follows:

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 Principle of Development
 Settlement Limits
 Design and Layout
 Highways
 Residential Amenity
 Landscape
 Ecology
 Overall Tilted Balance

The Senior Planning Officer introduced the item which was a detailed proposal 
for 5 dwellings.

The applicant’s agent submitted a supporting letter, and the Senior Planning 
Officer explained the contents of the letter to the members.

The Senior Planning Officer then delivered his presentation to members. 

He also advised that the merits of the proposal are complex given the updated 
planning policy context - history of the site, and the merits of the revised current 
housing proposal.

In terms of the benefits of the scheme officers acknowledged that the proposal 
is different to the last scheme dismissed at appeal. Its scale is substantially 
reduced from 34 dwellings to five which includes the overall reduction in the 
size of the overall site, with one of these dwellings to be offered as affordable, 
contributing towards community objectives.

Officers did not dispute the benefits of the proposal towards the delivery of the 
council’s housing supply over the plan period, but these have to be balanced 
against the environmental constraints identified in the former appeal decision, 
with a range of planning considerations remaining pertinent to the application 
site. 

The Senior Planning Officer then discussed the most recent appeal and the 
weight given to inspector’s conclusions. The previous application was refused, 
contrary to officer’s recommendation on the six grounds specified within the 
planning history of the report.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds which were set out in the report.

Members asked questions of the speakers and officers and debate ensured in 
relation to visibility splays, boundary treatments, separation distances and the 
loss of amenity.

Councillor Miskelly moved to refuse the application as per officer’s 
recommendation; this was seconded by Councillor Grainger.

A vote was taken on the motion to refuse, 10 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Page 4



Resolved

Refused as per officer recommendation 
 

397. 2/2018/0372 Demolition of existing dwelling and re-development to 
provide part residential development and part allotments (outline with all 
matters reserved), Land rear of Moor House, Marsh Terrace, 
Ellenborough, Maryport 

Representations

Craig Thompson spoke against the application

Neil Neesham spoke against the application

The agent Leah Cole spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended approval, subject to conditions and the signing of a 
section 106 agreement to secure a 20% affordable housing and for a fee to 
cover the costs of a modified Traffic Regulation Order to secure highway works 
resulting from the creation of a new access off the A594.

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues in the report as 
follows:

Principle of Development

The site falls within existing settlement limits of Maryport, with the release of a 
Greenfield site considered to be acceptable.

Replacement Allotment Provision

The original proposal has been amended to include the provision of some 
allotments. Officers established that 576sqm of land is currently in allotment 
use, and this will be secured by condition. The scheme is considered to accord 
with the requirements of Policy S25.

Sustainability, Access and Parking

The site is considered to be in a suitable location which will involve the creation 
of a new access road off the A594. The Highways Authority has queried the 
achievability of visibility splays, with amended plans demonstrating the 
achievable visibility and the implications for on street parking.

The proposal is considered acceptable in terms of the sustainability of the 
location, the provision of parking and highway safety.

Standard of Housing Environment

Page 5



The indicative plan is considered sufficient to conclude that the site could 
accommodate 15 units which would be able to provide a good standard of 
housing environment. 

Housing Mix

The adequacy of the housing mix would be fully assessed at the reserved 
matters stage.

Impact of Residential Amenity

As this is an outline application it is not possible to determine the standard the 
impact of the development on the amenity of neighbouring residents. However 
due to the changes of levels in the vicinity of the site, it is considered 
appropriate to limit the number of units proposed to that shown on the indicative 
plan, to limit any dwellings adjacent to the northern boundary of the site to 
single story only and to condition the submission of cross sections and existing 
and proposed floor levels as part of reserved matters.

Heritage Assets

The former Crown Inn is a grade II listed building. It is considered that with 
careful consideration of placement, massing and levels a scheme could be 
achieved that would not impact significantly on the setting of the heritage asset.

Ecology

The potential impact on bats is considered to be low risk

Trees

The proposal would involve some tree removal, none of which are considered 
worthy of a TPO.

Ground Conditions

A phase 1 Geo-Technical Report has been provided with the application which 
recommends further site investigation.

Surface Drainage Water

The site is not at risk of flooding, controls are recommended for the control, 
management and maintenance of a detailed drainage scheme.

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item which was a 
detailed proposal for demolition of an existing dwelling and redevelopment to 
provide residential development and part allotments, advising that as per 
condition 25 no more than 15 dwellings can be constructed.

The Planning and Building Control Manager went on to explain that, currently, 
the site is a mix of scrubland and allotments, with private informal arrangements 

Page 6



currently in place for the allotments. The site also has informal footpaths and a 
variety of sheds and other out buildings.
Due to the introduction of a new access road onto the A594, condition 14 
includes the provision of allocated parking spaces for residents of Marsh 
Terrace, and in relation to visibility splays from this access, visibility of 60 
metres measured from 2.4m down the centre of the access road.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds which were set out in the report.

Members asked questions of the speakers and officers and debate ensued in 
relation subsidence, visibility splays from the potential access road, allotments 
ownership and the future proposed allotment space.

Members were concerned about the alleged subsidence in neighbouring 
properties and the potential dangers that could emerge.

The Building and Control Manager confirmed to members that the Building 
Control Team would establish whether this was a dangerous structure. 

Councillor Farebrother then moved to defer the application, pending a site visit; 
this was seconded by Councillor Pegram. This was to enable members to gain 
a better understanding of the extent of allotments on site and relationship to 
existing dwellings.

A vote was taken on the deferment, 8 voted in favour, 2 against and 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolved

Deferred for a site visit

Councillor Tony Annison left the Meeting  

398. TPO/2018/12 - Tree Preservation Order for T1 Beech Tree, Land north of 
Friar Row, Caldbeck 

Representations

Page 7



Tim Cartmell with Paul Graham of Cumbria Tree Services spoke on behalf of 
the Parish Council. They specifically questioned the Council’s TEMPO 
assessment of the tree and compared it with one undertaken by Mr Graham. 
The Parish Council’s TEMPO score did not merit a TPO. 

Application

The Application recommended that the made order TPO/12/2018 for the Beech 
tree at Land North of Friar Row, Caldbeck be confirmed.

The Planning and Building Control Manager confirmed to members that the 
TPO was made on 24th September 2018 and read a statement of objection of 
the TPO from Mr Coulthard.

The Planning and Building Control Manager presented images of the Tree and 
the vicinity and confirmed that the Council Assessment, using the TEMPO 
scoring method was 16, which merits a TPO.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds which were set out in the report.

Members then asked questions of the speakers and officers and debate ensued 
in relation to the comparison of the two TEMPO assessments (one behalf of the 
Borough and Parish Council). A specific query was made by members as to 
whether the tree under consideration was part of a group as this affected the 
TEMPO score. The Council’s Planning Officer confirmed it was. 

Councillor Farebrother then moved to confirm the TPO as per officer’s 
recommendation.

This was seconded by Councillor Pegram.

A vote was taken on the motion, 6 voted in favour, 2 against and 1 abstention.

The motion was carried.

Resolved

That the order TPO/12/2018 be confirmed.

 

399. 2/2018/0590 Change of use of land from agricultural to domestic use and 
erection of domestic storage building, Holme Croft, Westnewton, Wigton 

The item was withdrawn prior to the meeting of this Development Panel.

Page 8



The meeting closed at 3.35 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application 2/2018/0537

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: 2/2018/0537
Valid Date: 23/11/2018
Location: The Fitz Low Road Cockermouth
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Bob Slack 
Proposal: Outline application for residential development of 27 

dwellings including access junction, layout, scale and 
appearance for plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping 
for buffer zone only.

RECOMMENDATION

THAT THE DECISION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS BE 
DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILING CONTROL MANAGER UPON THE 
COMPLETION OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT THAT SECURES:

 COMPLETION OF LAND LEVEL CHANGES PERMITTED BY PERMISSION 
2/2017/0312.

 PROVISION AND FUTURE MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF 
LANDSCAPING BELT DIRECTLY EAST OF PLOTS 2-6

 10 AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS ON SITE

 £4,431.60 TO UPGRADE EXISTING FACILITIES FOR CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE AT THE LAUREATES

Summary

Issue Conclusion

Tilted Balance The adverse impacts of permitting the development 
would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. 

Principle of Development The scale of the development is considered 
commensurate to the size and role of Cockermouth as 
a Key Service Centre. The site is within the built 
envelope of Cockermouth with the Laureates housing 
to the west and the town to the east (albeit with the 
Fitz’s parkland setting retained). 

The site is sustainably located within acceptable 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



walking distance of the town, connected by lit, 
segregated footways and a bus service.

Highway safety Access is not reserved for subsequent approval. The 
proposed highway arrangements are considered 
acceptable. The Highways Authority raise no 
objections. 

Landscape and Visual 
Effects

The landscape and visual impact is not significantly 
adverse and can be mitigated through an appropriate 
landscaping scheme secured by condition and s106 
agreement.

Heritage Assets In the context of the duty contained within S66(1) and 
the special regards to be paid to the desirability of 
preserving the setting of the listed buildings, officers 
consider, in this instance, that the overall level of harm 
to the heritage asset would amount to less than 
substantial. The benefits of the scheme outlined in the 
report outweigh the limited harm incurred to the setting 
of The Fitz. The setting of Papcastle’s conservation 
area, in terms of its character and appearance, will be 
preserved. 

Affordable Housing The proposed development would provide 10 
affordable housing units on the site. This equates to 
40% and fulfils the Local Plan policy requirements.

Proposal

The applicant seeks an enhanced outline permission for the erection of 27 dwellings on 
land at The Fitz Low Road Cockermouth. 

The application seeks permission for the principle of a residential development of 27 
dwellings, including the provision of 10 affordable units on site. Access is to be 
considered as part of this outline consent which will be from a single access point from 
Low Road. 

Whilst the matters pertaining to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved 
matters for the majority of the site, the application is seeking approval of layout, scale 
and apperance for plots 2-6 inclusively only which are to the eastern most part of the site 
and the landscaping within the buffer zone which lies to the east of Plots 2-6.

The Plans for considertaion are:-

14/11/848-01 Site Location Plan 
14/11/848 – 102C) Site Plan - Plots 2-6 (amendment received 09/04/19)
14/11/848 – 05 Dwelling Type A & A/1 – Floor Plans (amendment received 14/01/19)

Page 12



14/11/848 - 06 Dwelling Type A - Elevations (amendment received 14/01/19)
14/11/848 – 07 Dwelling Type A/1 - Elevations (amendment received 14/01/19)
14/11/848 – 103a) Enlarged Visibility Splay Plan (amendment received 08/04/19)
M3046-PA-02-V02 Landscape Layout (amendment received 08/03/19)
Email 14 January 2019 – amended description
Archaeological Evaluation
Flood Risk Assessment
Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey (amendment received 08/03/19)
Heritage Statement (received 04/02/19)
Landscape and Visual Appraisal (received 04/02/19)
Road Safety Audit
Transport Statement
Revised Heads of Terms received 08/04/19

Site

The application site incorporates a total of 4.3 hectares of greenfield land located on the 
western edge of Cockermouth adjacent to Low Road. It constitutes part of the grounds 
and open parkland associated with The Fitz, a Grade II Listed Georgian mansion house, 
dating from the 19th century.

Rolling gently between 38 and 40m AOD, the application site comprises a raised area to 
the west and an area of pastoral grassland to the east, separated by a mature beech 
hedgerow with hedgerow trees (oak) therein.

The field to the west has been raised by the importation of appropriate fill in order to 
achieve the levels approved within application 2/2014/0880 (proposal for 16 houses and 
associated remodelling to improve flood resilience). The part of the site to the east of the 
hedgerow also has permission for the land to be raised. However, this area is yet to 
receive any fill.

The northern boundary is defined by a wire and post fence separating the site from the 
recently constructed pedestrian cycleway with Low Road beyond and the adjacent stone 
wall. Beyond are a number of mature, protected trees. The east boundary is defined by a 
mature hedgerow, which is supplemented by a number of immature oak trees. The southern 
and western boundaries are defined by the tree belt forming part of Fitz Wood. Beyond, on 
higher ground, is a construction site for “The Laureates” residential development for 217 
dwellings currently under development (Reference 2/2014/0415). The houses directly 
adjacent to the site are complete and occupied. Along the western boundary, within the tree 
belt, runs an unnamed watercourse that is a minor tributary of the River Derwent. 

Page 13



Relevant Planning History

On site

Outline application:

A scheme for 16no dwellings was granted outline planning permission (Reference 
2/2014/0880) in 2014. This application included the provision of 6 affordable units and 10 
open market dwellings on site. The principle of development also included the consideration 
of earthworks that were necessary to raise the level of the site by 1.0 - 2.25m. Matters 
pertaining to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale were all reserved for 
subsequent approval as part of any future Reserved Matters application. 

The application also granted permission for the principle of the excavation of land within the 
wider parkland to a depth of 0.25 - 1.75 to create a depression that would act as a flood 
storage compensation area to offset the loss incurred by the development of the 16 
dwellings.

The earthworks have commenced and, therefore, the permission is extant. 

Reserved Matters:

A subsequent Reserved Matters application was received (Reference 2/2017/0316) and 
approved September 2017. The details approved were for 2 storey dwellings. The open 
market units consisted of 5 bed dwellings, whereas the affordable units were all 3 bed. 
 
The development of the site necessitated a compensatory flood scheme whereby earth 
would be moved from the parkland onto the development site and land immediately adjacent 
to the east. This would have resulted in both areas being raised into Flood Zone 1. The site 
would be raised to a level of 40.70 AOD. An area of parkland further east would also be 
lowered into Flood Zone 2 with a swale provided see application (2/2017/0312). 

The site was proposed to be accessed via the existing junction onto Low Road (B 5292) 
which was approved as part of the adjacent residential development ‘The Laureates’ housing 
estate that is currently under construction, utilising the new junction created onto Low Road 
and its main thoroughfare. The proposed development was to be served by a 4.8m wide 
estate road. This would have traversed the watercourse along the western boundary before 
connecting to the main thoroughfare serving The Laureates. The application confirmed that a 
replacement bridge would have been constructed across the watercourse and that this, and 
the estate road, would have remained unadopted with future maintenance being undertaken 
by a management company. 

A full detailed Landscape Layout was approved that illustrated stone walling and hedgerows 
to garden boundaries and trees to front and rear garden areas. Additional tree planting was 
proposed for the eastern boundary to strengthen it and create a curved belt that would mirror 
the belt located on south-eastern boundary of the parkland. 

Improvements to flood resilience:

As discussed above, to accommodate the 16 approved dwelling it was necessary to change 
the levels of the site. The site level on site were previously fairly constant around 38.5m AOD 
in the north west corner adjacent to Low Road to 40.00m to the south east of the Fitz Park 

Page 14



estate land. An application was received solely for re-modelling grounds on the parkland 
levels to improve flood resilience (Reference 2/2017/0312).

The works would have created a 30,200m3 shallow basin, with a base level of 40.00m AOD. 
The material would be removed from the land to the frontage of The Fitz creating a shallow 
flood compensatory.

Development adjacent to site

Retail/business units (north of Low Road):

An application was considered by the Council (Reference 2/2018/0070) for detailed consent 
the erection of a retail unit (Class A1) with external garden centre and outline consent for an 
employment unit (Class B1, B2 and B8). This application lies opposite the Fitz Parkland. The 
application was refused. This application is currently at appeal.

The Laureates Housing Estate:

2/2010/0542: A portion of the application site was included in the area for this application.

2/2014/0048 and 2/2014/0415: A portion of the application site was included in the site area 
for these applications (superseding 2/2010/0542), which granted planning permission for a 
residential development of 217 dwellings. The development fronting Low Road has been 
constructed and occupied with land to the south of Fitz Wood still under construction.

Representations

Cockermouth Town Council

Recommend Refusal. Overdevelopment of site, detrimental to the setting of a listed 
building, oversupply contrary to policy S3 of ALP Part 1 and no housing identified in part 
2 of ALP. 

ABC Environmental Health

No objections subject to conditions.

Cumbria County Council

Highways:

The applicant submitted a transport statement, safety audit and designers response 
which is welcomed and its comments noted. These documents clearly show that this 
application can be accommodated on the local highway network.
 
The comments made by the safety audit team and designers response should be 
implemented prior to any works starting on site to ensure that the current users of the 
footpath can continue to use it in safety. 

Page 15



The safe usage of the footpath will also need to be addressed in the Construction 
Management Plan.

Lead Local Flood Authority:

The applicant has submitted a flood risk assessment. This is welcomed. 

This document, however, does show that the site will need some extensive works to 
allow for the appropriate drainage of the site whilst not increasing the flood risk 
elsewhere. As we stated in the 2014 application, the concept is of raising site levels so as 
to render the site within flood Zone1 and provide compensatory 'flood plain' within land to 
the east. We have to express a preference for SuDS utilising infiltration with surface 
features to deal with exceedance events; it's gratifying to see the site investigations are 
indicating infiltration will work; thus the raising of site levels will need to be in free draining 
materials, suitably compacted and subject to second infiltration tests in soakaway 
positions. 

The Lead Local Flood Authority and Local highway Authority has no objections to this 
application. We would however recommend the inclusion of conditions in any consent 
you might grant.

Environment Agency

The proposed development falls within flood zone 2, which is land defined in the planning 
practice guidance as being at medium risk of flooding. 

We have produced a series of standard comments for local planning authorities and 
planning applicants to refer to on ‘lower risk’ development proposals. Your proposal falls 
within this category and we recommend that you view our standing advice in full before 
making a decision on this application. We do not need to be consulted.

United Utilities

 Drainage/Maintenance

Recommend conditions relating to foul and surface water been drained on a 
separate system and for maintenance of SW drainage. 

 Water Comment

Advise presence of water main and sewer in close proximity to site boundary. 
Construction Risk Assessment Method Statement required via condition.

Historic England

We do not wish to offer any comments.

Page 16



Cockermouth Civic Trust

Objection. The proposed application to increase and amend an extant outline approval 
for 17 dwellings to 27 constitutes considerable overdevelopment.

This proposal seeks to add 10 more dwellings, increase the site area by approximately 
100%, and create a new access on to Low Road.

Whilst the last approved application was unacceptable use of open parkland, it was 
sufficiently distant from the Fitz manor and only occupied a small portion of existing 
parkland. This application, however, seeks to double the area of development requiring a 
significant portion of the existing parkland to be developed.

The addition of 10 houses in relative terms will have little impact on the wider settlement 
but the increased use of existing parkland that surrounds the Fitz Manor and provides an 
open green landscape on the edge of the main settlement area of Cockermouth will have 
measurable and significant impact on the listed asset and the approach in to town.

The open landscape surrounding the Fitz manor is designated as agricultural, however, 
given its location and setting within the town of Cockermouth, and as a designed 
backdrop to the Georgian villa, it must be assessed as important green infrastructure and 
open space as outlined and protected in policy S24 and S35.

The proposal is therefore contrary to local policy and will cause measurable harm to the 
listed asset and should be refused.

County Archaeologist

The site has been subject to an archaeological investigation that recorded the 
archaeological assets that will be disturbed by the proposed development. This work has 
been completed and I therefore confirm that I have no objections and do not wish to 
make any recommendations or comments.

Natural England

Natural England notes that the applicant has submitted a shadow Habitats Regulation 
Assessment to screen the proposal to check for the likelihood of significant effects.
 
The assessment concludes that the proposal can be screened out from further stages of 
assessment because significant effects are unlikely to occur, either alone or in 
combination. This conclusion has been drawn having regard for the measures built into 
the proposal that seek to avoid all potential impacts: specifically the adherence of a 
Pollution Prevention Plan during the construction phase; and the implementation of SuDS 
at the operational phase to reduce and treat surface water prior to discharge into the 
watercourse. On the basis of information provided, Natural England concurs with this 
view. Your authority, as competent authority under the provisions of the Habitats 
Regulations, should record your own conclusion on the likelihood of significant effects 
and adopt this shadow HRA if you agree with its conclusion.

Page 17



Cumbria Wildlife Trust

No reply to date.

Cumbria Constabulary 

Acknowledge the application is an outline. However no information has been provided 
that demonstrates how this application complies with Policies S4 and DM14 of the Local 
Plan. Can further information be provided on security measures?

ABC Housing Services

The revised Heads of Terms statement offers 10 affordable dwellings, which is in line 
with the Allerdale Local Plan (2014) which requires 40% affordable provision on 
developments in Cockermouth.

The tenure split of affordable provision will be determined at reserved matters and should 
be in line with that specified in Policy S8 of the Local Plan and current NPPF guidance.

The 2016 Housing Study showed that the affordable housing need in Cockermouth and 
its adjoining parishes is mostly for three bed properties for general needs and one bed 
properties for general needs. There is a lesser need for affordable four and five bed 
properties for general needs and one and three bed properties for older persons.

Fire Officer

No reply to date

Sports, Art and Leisure Officer

No reply to date.

County Planning (Minerals and Waste) 

No reply to date

Individual/Other representations

The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour letter. 

3 letters of objection have been received. The grounds for objections are summarised as 
follows:

 The Fitz and its parkland are viewed together as a composite entity and the 
proposed development would erode more of this greenspace which provides a 
welcoming entrance to Cockermouth when approaching this Gem Town from the 
A66.

 The proposal would result in a significant impact on the parkland and on the 
setting of the listed building.

Page 18



 There is currently a balance between The Fitz and its parkland. The approved 16 
houses will be tucked into a tapering corner at the western end of the parkland 
and enclosed by the existing mature beech hedge. The additional 11 dwellings 
would result in significant reduction in the area of parkland and would impact on 
the setting of the listed mansion.

 The additional housing will damage the experience of users of the cycleway to the 
front of the site.

 The proposal represents considerable over-development. Cockermouth has 
already exceeded the number of dwellings proposed in the Allerdale Local Plan.

 The development of this site may lead to building on the whole of the parkland 
area.

 The detrimental effect on local wildlife would also be increased by this extension.
 It is evident that the proposed area is in a flood zone. Water build up in this area. 

The heightening of land prior to proposed building on the site has already 
displaced water onto the nearby road after days of heavy rainfall. This situation 
would be worsened by increased building on the site.

Response on behalf of the Low Road Greenway Group

In relation to public transport we would like to make the following comments:-

Low Rd, Cockermouth is currently well served by a variety of commercial bus services 
that give reasonable access to other areas of Cumbria. It is possible to reside on either 
the Laureates or the proposed Fitz development and travel only by public transport for 
work or leisure purposes.

It is disappointing to read in the Transport statement that the TRICS multimodal trip 
generation data predicts that public transport passenger rates for 35 homes is expected 
to result in one public transport trip in the AM peak hour and no trips in the PM peak hour 
and that. Public transport generates very few trips to and from this type of residential 
development. Also, having regard to the NPPF paragraph 108, it is considered that the 
sustainable transport opportunities have been taken up having regard to the nature and 
location of the site.

Given its good position on the bus transport network we would like to see a five year 
travel plan required that would actively advertise, promote and encourage bus travel to 
the households on the proposed development.

The proximity to the bus stops at the Laureates is outlined in the Transport Statement but 
there is no mention of the absence of bus shelters. The bus stops are in an exposed 
situation and the lack of any shelter in poor weather conditions would act as a deterrent. 
We would like to see a planning requirement that the developer provide shelters at the 
bus stops on both sides of the road.

The walking proximity to Cockermouth schools is described as viable but, again, in poor 
weather this would not be a pleasant route and, if bus shelters were provided, the bus 
service provides an alternative option.

Also there does not seem to have been any account of the poor air quality that young 

Page 19



people would encounter on a daily return journey to school given the vehicle congestion 
they would encounter once they rejoin the footway on Low Rd at the Lakes Homecentre. 

As a consequence of the problems caused at construction stage to Bus services by 
recent developments we would like to see included in the required Traffic Management 
Plan an expectation that any disruption of public transport services by the development at 
any stage, including construction, is the responsibility of the developer. That will include a 
requirement to fund alternative provision for bus users or the temporary re siting of a bus 
stop.

Environmental Impact Assessment

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017

 The development does not fall within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development.

Duties

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses.  

Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, with respect to any buildings or 
other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 state that competent 
authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any plan or project they 
intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect upon 
a European site. The permission may only be given if the plan or project is ascertained to 
have no adverse effect upon the integrity of the European site. If the competent authority 
wishes to permit a plan or project despite a negative assessment, imperative reasons of 
over-riding public interest must be demonstrated, and there should be no alternative to 
the scheme. 

Regulation 9 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires 
all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the 
exercise of their functions.

Page 20



Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

Policy S1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Prinmciples
Policy S3 – Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 – Design Principles
Policy S5 – Development Principles
Policy S6c – Cockermouth
Policy S7 – A Mixed and Blanced Housing Market
Policy S8 – Affordable Housing
Policy S21 – Developer Contributions
Policy S22 – Transport Principles
Policy S27 – Heritage Assets
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 – Safeguarding Amenity
Policy S33 – Landscaping
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiviersity
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality
Policy DM14 – Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland

Other material considerations

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Allerdale Borough Council Plan:

• Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where they 
are needed. 

Policy weighting

Notwithstanding any duties identified above, Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the development 
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts, the 
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan 1999 saved settlement limits 
and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy.

Page 21



However, paragraph 212 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
advises that the policies in that Framework are material considerations which should be 
taken into account in dealing with applications from the day of its publication. In this 
context it is noted that paragraph 213 of the NPPF 2019 advises that due weight should 
be given to development plan policies according to their degree of consistency with the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF also advises that, where the development plan policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be 
granted permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole (the tilted balance).

In this instance, policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance are applicable to the determination of the application. The site lies within 
Flood Zone 2, it lies within close proximity to a designated SAC/SSSI and has the 
potential to impact on the setting of a listed building. For these reasons, policies within 
the NPPF relating to the consideration of these assets are relevant. 

A further material consideration is the appeal decision for land at Little Broughton (PINs 
ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting afforded to 
development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of the former NPPF.

Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they are not 
considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 
1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they 
are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In this instance, it is assessed that 
the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its 
consistency with the sustainability principles of the NPPF 2019 as can the criteria a) to f) 
of policy S5. 

Finally, weight can also be afforded to emerging plans, that weight dependent on the 
stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and consistency with the 
provisions of the NPPF 2019. Draft Part 2 of the Local Plan has now been submitted to 
the Secretary of State for public examination by an Inspector and therefore is at a 
relatively advanced stage. The northwestern part of the site that already has planning 
permission is to be included within the proposed revised settlement limit. Due to the 
extent of unresolved objections relating to the revised settlement boundaries (SA2) only 
limited weight, in this instance and at this time, is being given to the relevant Draft Part 2 
policies relating to settlement limits.    

Assessment:

Page 22



Principle of development

Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (adopted July 2014) (ALP) sets out the 
framework for development across the area. In order to achieve sustainable growth it 
seeks to direct the majority of new growth to Workington, as the principal centre, together 
with other key and local service centres. Beyond this a limited amount of growth is 
expected to take place in a number of identified villages. 

Cockermouth is identified as a Key Service Centre in the settlement hierarchy and it is 
anticipated that Key Service Centres will see large scale housing growth. Subject to 
certain criteria, Policy S5 indicates that new development will be concentrated within the 
physical limits of such locations, providing that the scale of the development proposed is 
commensurate to the size of the settlement and reflects its position within the hierarchy 
overall. 

The site falls outside of the saved (1999) settlement limit of Cockermouth. The Broughton 
appeal referenced above clarified that these settlement limits are considered to be out of 
date and afforded little weight.  

The delivery of the Local Plan Part 1’s strategic policy objectives requires land beyond 
the existing settlement limits to be delivered during this phase of the Plan period. 
Although the part 2 Draft Submission proposes the western most part of the site to be 
included within the proposed settlement boundary for housing, the eastern field for the 
additional 11 dwellings will remain outside of the settlement limit. 

Nevertheless, Cockermouth is required to maintain its role as a Key Service Centre 
throughout the adopted Local Plan period. In advance of part 2 allocations and the new 
settlement limits being tested and being adopted, it is appropriate for other sites to come 
forward to meet this role. 

The development to the west of the site at The Laureates and the approval for 
development of part of the current application site demonstrates the settlement limit in 
the 1999 Plan no longer reflects the extent of the built up area. 

Furthermore, the approved residential development for 16 dwellings (2/2014/0880) with 
works on site retaining the permission as live must be afforded weight as a material 
consideration. This application accepted the principle of housing in this location, beyond 
the western edge of the existing settlement limit as defined i n the ALP 1999. The current 
application seeks the development of a further area of open parkland for an additional 11 
dwellings only.

The NPPF indicates that housing allocations should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. With the strategic housing supply 
policies out of date, the provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF are engaged.
The Council must therefore consider whether the tilted balance applies (criterion ii of 
paragraph 11) or if or the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed (criterion i). These areas or assets include designated heritage assets, special 
areas of conservation (SACs), Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and areas at 

Page 23



flood risks. It is these considerations that are examined first to establish which criterion of 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF is applicable. 

Impact on heritage assets

Policies S2, S5 and S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure that proposals do 
not adversely affect heritage assets and their setting. Policy S6(c) makes specific 
reference to the need to conserve and enhance historic assets within Cockermouth and 
the wider locality. The policies are used to inform the assessment against the duties 
contained within sections 66 and 72 of the Listed Buildings Act. The protected assets that 
are relevant are:-

 Scheduled Monument  - Romano-British farmstead in Fitz Woods1 
 The Fitz listed building.
 Papcastle Conservation Area.

Archaeology

The Romano-British farmstead is located in Fitz Woods to the south of the site. It is 
described in the List Entry Description as one of a distinctive type of native settlements 
dating to the Roman period.  Despite the slight reduction in the monument's defensive 
earthworks on the western side, the farmstead survives reasonably well and is a good 
example of this class of monument. The List Entry Description advises that it will facilitate 
any further study of Romano-British settlement patterns in the area.

The development does not have any direct, intrusive impact on the Monument. The 
development of the A66, the Laureates, the Parklands and the Fitz has changed the 
setting over the past 200 years. The containment by the remaining woodland is not 
altered and the harm is considered negligible. 

Notwithstanding this matter, it is acknowledged that the site lies within an area of known 
high archaeological potential with, not only the Scheduled Ancient Monument to the 
south, but also widespread remains of a Roman settlement in and around the village of 
Papcastle to the north and prehistoric finds from the early Neolithic period on the 
adjacent site to the west. Therefore, an Archaeological Evaluation and Excavation 
Assessment Report, to determine the presence/absence of archaeological features within 
the site, has been submitted with the application.

Given that the site has already been subject to an archaeological investigation that 
recorded the archaeological assets that will be disturbed by the proposed development, 
the Cumbria County Council Historic Environment Officer have assessed the findings and 
raise no objections to the proposal. 

Listed Buildings

1 List Entry Number: 1014587 

Page 24



The application site comprises land that forms part of the grounds/parkland associated 
with The Fitz, which is a Grade 2 listed Georgian mansion house dating from the 19th 
Century. The parkland is not included within the Historic England’s ‘Register of Historic 
Parks and Gardens of special historic interest in England’. Notwithstanding this, it forms 
an integral element of the setting of the mansion house.

Applying Historic England’s guidance on the assessment of setting2, it is clear that a 
proportion of the significance of the Fitz as a heritage asset is derived from its setting, 
albeit much is also derived from its history (the Senhouse family) and architecture (a 
Georgian house retaining many original features). 

Therefore, changes to the setting have the potential to result in substantial harm to the 
significance of this asset.
Both the physical and functional setting of the Fitz are considered. 

Functionally, it is noted that the 1898 map3 appears to include all of the site within the 
formal parkland of the Fitz. This assumption is based on the shaded coverage of this 
map and cross referencing to the map’s key. This area extended to the Low Road in the 
north, the arc of mature trees (Fitz Wood) that survives to the south, the extent of the 
Laureates housing development to the west and the border of what is now Parklands 
Avenue to the east. 

The use of the majority of this area is still as parkland in the same ownership of the Fitz 
with the land used for grazing of livestock amongst the parkland trees, very much as per 
the 1898 position. The exception is the application site, albeit to two different extents. 
The area already benefitting from permission has been raised and is no longer 
characterised or used as parkland; the surface is bare, with very little grass or trees. The 
permitted housing, with the permission alive for perpetuity, means that the baseline 
position of assessment is already one of irrevocable change from that of the parkland 
function. As such the functional setting of the Fitz derived from this part of the application 
site is preserved.
The currently undeveloped area of the site is still used for grazing and has been 
described by some consultees as remaining part of the functional parkland setting to the 
Fitz. This is a matter of fact and degree; it was part of the functional setting of the Fitz but 
has clearly been separated from the open parkland to the east (to the front of the Fitz) by 
stock fencing and a hedge. It is also not characterised by the parkland trees that typify 
the area to the east. It is also noted that all of this area is subject to the live permission 
for the change of levels which would result in a similar character and use to the land 
already raised. As such it is considered that the development of the application site would 
preserve the functional setting of the Fitz. The harm would be less than substantial.

Turning to the physical setting, the impact has been assessed in three ways:-

2 Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning: 3 (2nd Edition) Published 22 December 2017
3 Cumberland LIV.NE (includes: Bridekirk; Brigham; Cockermouth; Dean; Papcastle.)
Revised: 1898

Page 25



 The experience of the Fitz from the site.
 The experience from the Fitz. 
 The experience of the Fitz from visual receptors beyond the site, such as from 

Low Road and Papcastle. 

Only parts of the house can be seen from the application site. This is due to the mesh of 
tree branches closer to the site, the density of which provides screening in winter as well 
as summer. 

There is a similar experience from Low Road and the adjoining footway where they abut 
the site. It is not until one travels further east that the views afforded to the Fitz across the 
retained parkland are fully revealed. Furthermore, the already permitted land level 
increase and change in character of the land mean the experience has already changed 
where this work has been completed and will change where it is still outstanding. Such 
changes restrict the parts of the Fitz visible from the footway and road by the site to the 
upper floor. It also results in the engineered land in the foreground, devoid of parkland 
character, being dominant in the experience from these receptors.

It is considered that there will be a change when one is further east on Low Road or the 
footway looking back south-westward towards the site. Here the vista includes the Fitz 
through the parkland, the Laureates and existing permitted dwellings are more distant as 
is the permitted increase in ground levels. The proposed extension of dwellings further 
eastwards has the potential to result in substantial harm to the setting of the Fitz. The 
consideration of some reserved matters at this stage provides assurances to officers, to 
some degree, that the specific development propose will not result in such harm. Of note 
is the low density, subservient scale and detailing of the dwellings, traditional forms and 
balance between the natural and built environment. However, it is considered that a 
border belt of landscaping is required to further soften the impact of the development and 
provide an appropriate transition between the parkland and the housing. This is shown 
on the proposed, amended plan M3046-PA-02-V02 and can be secured by a s106 
agreement along with its future retention and maintenance. The same would apply for 
common areas and facilities together with the foul and surface water drainage 
infrastructure within the site, all to be maintained by a management company.

Turning to more distant receptors, it is noted that the tree belt along the former railway 
line partially obscures the application site from receptors in Papcastle to the north. The 
Fitz and retained parkland further east is also visible. However, as will be explained in the 
next section (impact on the Papcastle Conservation Area), the experience is already 
diluted by the existence of the Lakes Homecentre and other development further east on 
Low Road. It is noted that part of the land north of Low Road is allocated for employment 
land (directly adjacent to the Lakes Homecentre) and there is also a live appeal for a 
larger site extending further west that would result in much tree loss and the opening up 
of views. However, no planning permission exists at the time of writing and, even if it did 
and was implemented, the resultant new buildings and landscaping would screen the 
application site from view and, as a result, the proposal would not impact signififcantly on 
the experience of the Fitz from this receptor. 

With regards to the experience from the Fitz, officers assessed the impact from ground 

Page 26



and first floor windows and from the driveway to the front of the house. The site is visible 
from the first floor windows and the north-western area of the driveway, albeit all views 
are through the mesh of aforementioned tree branches. Nevertheless, despite this partial 
screening, the border belt of landscaping is necessary next to the new housing. When 
semi-mature this will considerably reduce the visibility between the new houses and The 
Fitz. 

It is also considered necessary to restrict permitted development rights for plots 2 to 6 as 
uncontrolled development within these plots has a high degree of potential to adversely 
change the experience from the Fitz, the potential level of harm being substantial. 

In summary, with this landscaping secured and managed and permitted development 
rights restricted for plots 2 to 6, the proposal will preserve the setting of the Fitz and there 
will be less than substantial harm to the significance of this asset. 

Conservation Area 

The significance of Papcastle Conservation Area is derived from many qualities, 
including being the site and setting of the Roman Fort, its topography, its orientation and 
setting in the wider landscape, the narrow historic streets and their organic layout. Its 
setting on the south facing slope allows views from public areas and gardens over the 
field and woodland of the river valley below, including The Fitz and its parkland. This 
setting does contribute to the overall character and appearance of the area. The new 
houses will be visible from the Conservation Area and therefore have an impact upon its 
setting that could represent some harm. However this is not an unspoilt view, as already 
advised in the preceding section. 

Conclusions on impact on heritage assets

Officers consider the public benefits may be considered as anything that delivers 
economic, social or environmental progress as described in paragraph 8 of the NPPF. 
The open-market and affordable housing proposed is a benefit that outweighs the 
cumulative, less than substantial harm to the identified heritage assets. 

Special Area of Conservation and Site of Special Scientific Interest 

There are two statutory designated sites within 2km of the site, the River Derwent and 
Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and the River Derwent and 
Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The application site falls within 
the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) of both designations, the siting within the SAC IRZ 
necessitating the screening of the application under the Habitat Regulations. 
The watercourse to the west of the site is a minor tributary of the River Derwent and, 
therefore, there is a hydrological link between the site and the SSSI/SAC. The potential 
risks are presented at both the construction (e.g. potential increases in sediment load or 
a discharge of contaminants) and operational stages (e.g. increase in 
volume/contamination of surface water run-off) that could potentially reduce the water 
quality of these protected sites.

Based on the information submitted, Natural England has concluded that the proposed 
development is unlikely to have a significant effect on the SAC or damage or destroy the 

Page 27



interest features of the SSSI. These conclusions are reached without any mitigation 
being necessary and therefore officers recommend that impact on the SAC and/or the 
SSSI are not reasons for refusal. 

Other ecological considerations

Policies S2, S35 and S36 seek to promote sustainable development whilst protecting and 
enhancing biodiversity assets and water quality within the Plan area.

The applicant has submitted a Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey that concludes the site 
is of negligible ecological importance as it constitutes a species-poor agricultural sward. 
Notwithstanding this, the hedgerows and trees along the northern and eastern 
boundaries are considered to have potential as bat commuting and foraging areas. 
Those mature trees within the site do possess the preferred characteristics for bat roost; 
however the arborcultural report confirms that no tree are to be felled. 

The site will be accessed from a new road on to Low Road. To allow for the necessary 
sightlines along Low Road there is a necessity to remove sections of hedgerow and a 
line of trees. The mature TPO trees in the roadside hedge will not be affected. The loss 
of these sections of hedgerow and line of trees will have an adverse ecological impact on 
the local (Fitz Park) scale due to the potential of connectivity for bats using them as flight 
lines. However, the bat flight line connectivity along Low Road is maintained on the 
northern side of the road.

The report highlights replacement/realignment of hedgerows throughout the site. There 
will be a net increase in hedgerow but, in the short term (0-5 years), whilst the hedgerows 
are maturing, there will be a minor adverse ecological impact at the local scale. However, 
once the hedgerows have started to mature connectivity along the bat flight lines will be 
restored and, in the long term, there will be increased bat flight line interconnectivity and 
increased lengths of potential foraging habitat resulting in an overall positive ecological 
impact on bats at the local scale.

In relation to the impact on the protected species identified as being potentially affected 
by the proposed development, officers have considered the standing advice and consider 
the proposed development would not cause significant harm to these species in terms 
roosting, foraging or commuting.

In terms of impact on biodiversity the proposal is considered to comply with policies S2, 
S35 and S36.

Flood Risk

Policy S2 and S29 of the local plan seek to minimise the risk to people and property as a 
result of flooding and ensure that development would not increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere. Similarly, paragraph 155 of the NPPF directs development away from areas 
of highest risk through the implementation of the sequential test. Where development is 
necessary, a Flood Risk Assessment is required to ensure that the development is safe, 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

The application site lies currently within Flood Zone 2 on the Environment Agency Flood 

Page 28



Risk maps. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) classifies residential development as a 
‘more vulnerable’ use and equentially land in flood zone 1 should be developed first. 
However, it is noted that:-

 Flood Zone 2 is considered to be appropriate for more vulnerable uses as clarified 
in Table 3 referred to in the NPPG.4 

 There is the permitted land level raise which has already been part implemented. 
This takes the land into Flood Zone 1.

The development passes the sequential test.

The application has submitted a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), which identifies 
substantial mitigation measures that would minimise the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development. This involves the aforementioned level changes, where housing will be 
located in Flood Zone 1 and providing compensatory flood storage by excavating a 
section of land within the Parkland to the front of The Fitz. 
It is necessary to secure the delivery of the remaining works outside of the application 
site through a s106 obligation. 

Surface Water Drainage

The Lead Local Flood Authority have expressed a preference for SuDS utilising 
infiltration with surface features to deal with exceedance events. Site investigations 
indicate infiltration will work; thus the raising of site levels will need to be in free draining 
material suitably compacted and subject to second infiltration tests in soakaway 
positions. The material extracted from the parkland appears to have the appropriate 
infiltration qualities. 

Under normal conditions it is proposed to discharge surface water to the unnamed 
watercourse to the west of the site. Existing greenfield run-off rates have been 
established and the estimated rates from the proposed development calculated, based 
on the net developable area. The FRA confirms a strategy to ensure surface water is 
managed and controlled on-site and includes attenuation that would reduce the 
immediate peak flow loadings.

United Utilities and the Local lead Flood Authority raise no objections to the proposal 
subject to conditions. Officers are satisfied that an appropriate drainage scheme in line 
with the hierarchy of drainage options can be achieved on site. The flood risk mitigation 
proposed would ensure that the risk to people and property was minimised and therefore 
complies with the requirements of Policy S29 and the NPPF. 

Application of tilted balance 

It is clear, from the above assessments, that it is the tilted balance that would apply; there 
are no reasons as to why criterion (i) of paragraph 11 of the NPPF would be engaged. 

4 Paragraph: 067 Reference ID: 7-067-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014

Page 29



The provision of 27 dwellings, including the provision of 10 affordable units on site, is 
deemed to be a material benefit afforded significant weight. As cited above, such housing 
needs to come forward in this medium term of the Local Plan period to ensure that the 
Council’s housing strategy detailed in the Plan is fulfilled. There are specifc benefits 
attributed to the proportion of affordable homes. The report has already demonstrated 
that there would be no signficant and demonstrable adverse impacts arising from heriage 
asset, ecology and flood risk considerations. 

However, there are other matters to consider when applying the tilted balance.

Previoulsy developed land 

Where available and, if appropriate, the Council will also encourage and prioritise the 
effective reuse of previously developed land and buildings or vacant and underused land, 
as identified by policies S30 and DM16. The latter specifies a sequential test for 
residential development in excess of 7 dwellings in Key Service Centres to demonstrate 
that there are no suitable alternative, previously developed sites. Through previous 
extant permissions within the town it has been established that the available brownfield 
sites within the town have already been developed resulting in the most recent housing 
approvals being on greenfield sites.

Housing mix and density

Policy S7 seeks to promote sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities by ensuring 
that all new residential development contributes to improving the balance of housing and 
meets the identified needs of the whole community. Policies S2 and S4 seeks to optimise 
the potential of sites by ensuring appropriate density and efficient use of the land. Policy 
DM14 states that housing density will be considered on a site by site basis and informed 
by local context of the area in terms of design considerations, historic or environmental 
integration, or identified local need. 

The proposed development entails the accommodation of 27 no. dwellings on the site. 
The design details for plots 2-6 inclusively are to be considered for approval at this stage 
with the remainder of the site to be dealt with at reserved matters. However, the 
indicative layout plan illustrates a mixed development. 

Supporting text to Policy S7 (Paragraph 129) states that it is important that homes are 
provided to meet the aspirations of local people and to attract new people to live in the 
area in order to support economic objectives. It also states that the housing needs of 
different types of households should be fulfilled by providing the right types of mix of 
housing.

The detailed plots 2-6 include larger 2 storey dwellings that provide 5 bed units. These 
dwellings all have garages with large gardens areas surrounding the properties. The 
design of the dwellings match those approved along the eastern boundary of application 
2/2017/0316 (Reserved Matters). The dwellings have been designed so the rear and 
front elevations both have a high level of design and detailing. Given the relative low 
density of this part of the development it assists in retaining some views over to the 
Listed Fitz to the southeast of the site. 

Page 30



The indicative plan for the wider site illustrates a higher density development which would 
provide a mix of smaller units. 

The NPPF stresses the importance of providing choice in housing developments being 
brought forward and officers acknowledge that it is important to meet demand in the 
different sectors of the housing market. Officers consider an appropriate level of housing 
mix can be achieved on this site in line with Policy S7.

While national policy no longer requires a minimum density of housing development, a 
key objective of the Council is to ensure effective and efficient use of land. Whilst the 
proposed development does not represent the most efficient use of the site, as sought by 
Policies S2 and S4, policy DM14 does allow density to be influenced by identified local 
housing need. Taking account of the already consented approval of 8 dwellings per 
hectare and the location of the proposal, it is considered that a lower density 
development is appropriate on this site. 

Sustainable access

Policies S2and S22 seek to ensure that new development is located in areas that help to 
reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access to public transport, improve 
travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private motor vehicles. These policies 
accord with paragraph 108 of the NNPF which seek to ensure sustainable transport 
modes are maximised and development is safe and accessible. Policy S5 requires that 
new development includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and access.

The site is located on a strategic road/bus route. For walkers, the site can be accessed 
on foot directly from the existing, lit, cycleway/footway to the front of the development and 
linking to the town centre. It is also located adjacent to an existing bus corridor served by 
some of the X5 and X4 services. There is a bus stop on the northern side of the road 
directly opposite The Laureates. 

Highway safety and vehicular access

The means of access into the site is to be considered as part of this outline application. A 
Transport Statement and Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (junction only) has been undertaken 
and submitted with the application. 

The proposed access takes the form of a simple priority junction onto Low Road and lies 
approximately 250m to the east of the access road to the adjacent Laureates residential 
development. Low Road at this point is subject to a 40mph speed limit which commences 
(for westbound traffic) about 300m to the east.  

The Highways Authority consider the submitted documents clearly show that the 
application can be accommodated on the local highway network. Therefore they raise no 
objections to the application subject to conditions.

Landscape and Visual Effects

Page 31



Policies S2, S32 and S33 all seek to protect, conserve and wherever possible, enhance 
the landscape character and preserve visual amenity. Policies S4, S5 and DM14 seek to 
ensure, amongst other matters, that new development is of a high quality design, of 
appropriate scale and appearance and responds positively to the character, history and 
distinctiveness of the locality. Policy S5 seeks to ensure that new development is of a 
scale and design which will not detract from the character of the settlement; that the site 
of the proposed development is not considered to have significant amenity value and the 
site is not considered to make a significant contribution to the character of the settlement 
in its undeveloped state. 

It is acknowledged that these considerations are inextricably intertwined with heritage 
considerations in this instance. 

A Landscape Visual Appraisal (LVA) has been submitted with the application. Given that 
the most western part of the site has consent for 16 houses the LVA predominately 
considers the additional impact from the development of the adjacent field for an 
additional 11 dwellings.

Officers concur with the findings of the LVA. Referring to the Cumbria Landscape 
Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) the application site lies within Landscape Type 
8: Main Valleys and within Sub-Type 8b: Broad Valleys – associated with the River 
Derwent and its corridor. The key characteristics of this landscape are improved pasture 
land, stone walls and hedgerows defining field boundaries, pockets of woodland and road 
and railway lines that follow valley contours.

However, as already assessed in this report, there is a strong urban influence on the 
immediate landscape. There are a number of urbanising features. These include the 
areas of the Laureates already completed as well Parklands Drive and the Lakes Home 
Centre. 

As the proposed development would not require the removal of any primary landscape 
features and new hedgerow and tree planting is proposed, the overall magnitude of effect 
on the landscape features would be low.  

The LVA identified a number of visual receptors including points within Papcastle, from 
the Fitz itself, the footway alongside Low Road, Parklands Drive and Low Road. All but 
Parklands Avenue have already been identified in this report as potentially sensitive 
receptors when assessing the experience of heritage assets. The LVA identifies these 
receptors as having medium to high levels of sensitivity (Low Road being low to 
medium). Officers concur with this assessment and that, for the reasons already cited in 
this report, the impacts are of minor to moderate adverse at most.
As also already described, the mitigation proposed in terms of landscaping will reduce 
the impact to an acceptable level. The same conclusions applies for the impact on 
receptors on Parklands Drive.

In summary, whilst officers acknowledge that there would be landscape effects as a 
result of the proposal, these would be highly localised. Wider landscape effects are not 
considered to be significant given the presence of urban development within the locality 
which serves to neutralise the effect on the landscape and the level of existing and 

Page 32



proposed screening surrounding the site, which serves to visually contain it. Therefore 
the proposed development, with appropriate landscaping, can be assimilated 
satisfactorily and an unacceptable landscape harm will not arise.

Officers acknowledge that there would be visual effects as a result of the proposed 
development as a whole but are satisfied that, with appropriate landscaping, the degree 
of visual effect could be moderated to an extent that prevented it from being perceived as 
significantly harmful.

The relationship between the development on the adjacent site (The Laureates) must 
also be considered. The levels of this site have also been raised by a similar height to 
that suggested within the proposed development. Therefore the proposed development 
would not appear as a development on a raised platform of land and thus out of context 
in terms of visual appearance. 

Affordable housing 

Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local seeks to maximise the delivery of affordable housing 
across the Plan Area. It requires sites over 10 dwellings to deliver 40% affordable 
housing within Cockermouth and also states it is to be provided on-site, apart from in 
exceptional circumstances. The area-based policy for Cockermouth, S6(c), makes 
specific reference to the priority of delivering affordable housing in the town and its wider 
locality.

As the proposed development is for 27 dwellings, policy S8 is engaged. The applicant 
acknowledges this policy requirement and the revised draft heads of terms includes the 
provision of 10 affordable dwellings. The size, type and tenure of the affordable housing 
units together with the phasing of their delivery can be determined at reserved matters 
stage although it is accepted that this is likely to exclude plots 2 to 6. The provision of 
these and their affordability in perpetuity would be secured by a Section 106 agreement.

Facilities for children and young people

In line with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document the applicant is proposing to 
provide a financial contribution to the upgrade of existing off-site provision for children 
and young people. Given the proximity of the site to the adjacent Laureates site this is 
considered appropriate. The formula is No. units x 1.34m2 x £120 = £4, 431.60 for 27 
dwellings.   

Geotechnical and Contamination Risk 

Policies S2, S30 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure that proposals to 
develop land that is potentially contaminated and/or unstable are subject to appropriate 
assessment and where necessary, remediation works. The protection of water and soil 
quality from pollution and contamination is also a key policy objective.

The Council’s Environmental Protection team have assessed the proposal and raises no 
objections to the proposed development subject to the imposition of pre-commencement 
conditions relating to the implementation of Ground Investigation works. On this basis, 
officers consider that the proposed development complies with the requirements of 

Page 33



Policies S2, S35 and S36.

Other matters 

Within their submitted draft heads of terms the applicant has also proposed to enter an 
agreement with the Highways Authority to secure the missing section of cycleway to the 
front of the Wastewater Treatment Works travelling west to the roundabout and for it to 
operation prior to the first dwelling being occupied. Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations 2011 is echoed by paragraph 56 of the NPPF which details 
that planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the following tests:

a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) Directly related to the development; and
c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

The section of land where the cycleway is proposed lies approximately 250m west of the 
application site. Given the separation distance from the site and that the site has existing 
good connectivity with the town in both terms of cycleway/footpath links, it is considered 
that the implementation of this proposed cycleway would not meet the tests detailed 
above. For this reason it is considered that no weight can be provided to the 
implementation of the cycleway when considering the proposed development for 27 
dwellings. 

With the exception of the cycleway works it is considered that all other matters are 
necessary and relate to the proposed development and therefore are considered 
appropriate measures to make the development acceptable through the inclusion of a 
S106 agreement. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have 
financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax Revenue. 

Conclusions

Having regard to the relevant policies of the Local Plan Part 1, and advice contained 
within the NPPF, the proposal is considered to be acceptable, subject to conditions and 
the signing of a S106 agreement. The benefits of the development outweigh the impacts 
which are neither significant nor demonstrable. 

RECOMMENDATION

Page 34



THAT THE DECISION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS BE 
DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILING CONTROL MANAGER UPON THE 
COMPLETION OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT THAT SECURES:

 COMPLETION OF LAND LEVELS CHANGES PERMITTED BY PERMISSION 
2/2017/0312.

 PROVISION AND FUTURE MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF 
LANDSCAPING BELT DIRECTLY EAST OF PLOTS 2-6 AND COMMON 
AREAS AND DRAINAGE INFRASTRUCTURE WITHIN THE SITE.

 10 AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS ON SITE

 £4, 431.60 TO UPGRADE EXISTING FACILITIES FOR CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE AT THE LAUREATES

Page 35



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

Reserved matters submission

1. Approval of details of the landscaping of Plots 2 to 6 (thereafter called the 
‘reserved matters’) shall be obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority before the development is commenced.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of the 
development.

2. Approval of details of the layout, scale and appearance of the building(s) 
and the landscaping (excluding plots 2 to 6) for the site (thereafter called 
the ‘reserved matters’) shall be obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority before the development is commenced.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of the 
development.

3.   The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission 
and the development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the 
following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this 
permission, or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of 
the last such matter to be approved.

      Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

4. The layout Reserved Matters Application(s) for the site excluding plots 2 to 
6 shall include details showing the provision within each plot for the 
parking of vehicles commensurate with the Cumbria Parking Standards. No 
dwelling shall be occupied until the approved facilities for that dwelling are 
fully constructed. These approved facilities shall be retained and capable of 
use when the development is completed and shall not be removed or 
altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made and 
retained for use in relation with the development.

Accordance with plans
 

5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following plans:

           14/11/848-01 Site Location Plan 

Page 36



14/11/848 – 102C) Site Plan - Plots 2-6 (amendment received 09/04/19)
14/11/848 – 05 Dwelling Type A & A/1 – Floor Plans (amendment received 
14/01/19)
14/11/848 - 06 Dwelling Type A - Elevations (amendment received 14/01/19)
14/11/848 – 07 Dwelling Type A/1 - Elevations (amendment received 
14/01/19)
14/11/848 – 103a) Enlarged Visibility Splay Plan (amendment received 
08/04/19)
M3046-PA-02-V02 Landscape Layout (amendment received 08/03/19)
Email 14 January 2019 – amended description
Archaeological Evaluation
Flood Risk Assessment
Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey (amendment received 08/03/19)
Heritage Statement (received 04/02/19)
Landscape and Visual Appraisal (received 04/02/19)
Road Safety Audit
Transport Statement

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement

6. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing 
clear visibility of 2.4 metres by 120 metres in both directions measured 
down the centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the 
major road (Low Road) have been provided at the junction of the access 
road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to 
permitted development, no structure, or object of any kind shall be 
erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which exceed 1m 
in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility 
splay which obstruct the visibility splays.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

7. The carriageway, footways and footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be 
designed, constructed, drained and lit to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority and, in this respect full engineering details shall be 
submitted with the first layout Reserved Matters Application. No work shall 
be commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details 
shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria 
Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed before the 
development is complete. 

Page 37



Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

8. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a 
desktop study has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Should the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential 
contamination which may affect human health, controlled waters or the 
wider environment, all necessary site investigation works within the site 
boundary must be carried out to establish the degree and nature of the 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to 
human health. The scope of works for the site investigations should be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to their commencement.

Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

9. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desktop 
study condition 8 following site investigations which poses unacceptable 
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of 
the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be 
undertaken including the verification plan.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10. No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to through 
the construction period. The plan shall include the following:

a) Traffic Management Plan to include:
i.Reserving adequate land for site offices/stores, secure compounds, 

including adequate land for parking/turning of vehicles/plant, 
engaged in the construction operations associated with the 
development hereby approved. Such land, including the vehicular 
access thereto, shall be used for or kept available for these 
purposes at all times until the completion of the construction 
works.

ii.All traffic associated with the development, including site and staff 
traffic.

iii.The loading and unloading of plant and materials.

Page 38



iv.The storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development.

v.Wheel washing facilities.
vi.The management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway 

and other public rights of way/footway.
vii.Highway signage/ Haulage routes;

b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution.

d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;

e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);

f) Programme of work for Construction phase;
g) Hours of working and deliveries;
h) Details of lighting to be used on site;
i) Mitigation measures to ensure no harm is caused to protected species 

during construction.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

11. Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage 
scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site 
conditions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 
2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards and unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface 
water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or 
indirectly. 
The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 and S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

12. No development shall commence until details of the means of ensuring 
water and wastewater infrastructure that is laid within and adjacent to the 

Page 39



site boundary is protected from damage as a result of the development 
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing. The details shall outline the potential impacts on the water and 
wastewater infrastructure from all construction activities and the impacts 
post completion of the development on the water and wastewater 
infrastructure within and adjacent to the site and identify mitigation 
measures to protect and prevent any damage to the water and wastewater 
infrastructure. Any mitigation measures shall be implemented in full 
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interest of public health and to ensure protection of public water 
supply and wastewater infrastructure. 

Before developments first use

13. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 9, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the 
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Other: 

14. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.

15. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and minimise 
the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Page 40



16. The works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the mitigation 
strategy outlined in the Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey dated 6 March 
2019. 
Reason:  To safeguard the habitat of bats in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

17. No part of the development on plots 2 to 6 hereby approved shall be 
constructed above ground floor level until details of all external and roofing 
materials have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in the development 
as approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area and will not impact on the setting of The Fitz and its 
parkland, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S27 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Statutory Instrument revoking 
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development 
falling within Class(es) A, B, C, D, E and G of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the 
said Order shall be carried out without the prior written permission of the 
Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted to it. 

Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any 
proposed alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the site 
and safeguard the setting of The Fitz and its parkland.

 
Advisory Note 

A 21'' trunk main borders the site. United Utilities require unrestricted access for 
operating and maintaining it, and will not permit development over or in close 
proximity to the main. They require an access strip as detailed in United Utilities 
‘Standard Conditions for Works Adjacent to Pipelines’.

Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application FUL/2019/0014

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: FUL/2019/0014
Valid Date: 25/01/2019
Location: Firth View  Maryport
Applicant: Miss Joanne Fletcher 
Proposal: Siting of a static caravan as living accommodation

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE

Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development The application site is located in the open 
countryside outside the defined settlement 
limit. The static caravan as residential 
accommodation represents an 
inappropriate and unsustainable form of 
development in the open countryside, with 
no essential need demonstrated,  contrary 
to policy S3 & DM2 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1). 

Sustainability, Access and Parking The proposal would result in the 
intensification of a substandard access by 
way of insufficient visibility and the 
proposal is therefore considered 
unacceptable in terms of highway safety.

The proposal would constitute an 
unsustainable form of development due to 
the distance to local services and 
amenities along an unlit footpath to the 
opposite side of the A594, with no crossing 
facilities. The proposal would therefore 
result in an unsustainable reliance on car-
borne journeys to access services and 
facilities. 

Landscape and Visual Impact Development of housing at this location is 
considered to be sporadic development in 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



this open and rural locality, that would 
adversely impact on the character and 
appearance of the area. The proposal 
does not relate to the built environment, 
resulting in an incongruous development 
that would have an adverse effect on the 
landscape character and visual amenities 
of the locality.  

The static caravan and the associated 
container structures and perimeter fencing 
all combine to provide a poor standard of 
design for a permanent dwelling in a 
sensitive and somewhat elevated rural 
location. 

The proposal therefore raises conflict with 
policy S4, S33 and DM14 of the ALP Part 
1.

Tilted balance The adverse impacts of permitting the 
development in this poorly accessible, 
unsustainable countryside location with an 
unacceptable access would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefit of 
providing just one dwelling when assessed 
against the policies in the Local Plan 2014 
and the NPPF 2019 taken as a whole.

Proposal

The application seeks retrospective planning permission for the siting of a residential 
static caravan on land at Firth View, between Dearham and Maryport. The plans include 
an additional storage shed and ISO container.  The applicant is presently living in the 
caravan on site and also seeks planning permission for the erection of boarding kennels 
for a proposed business use, which is being considered under planning application 
reference FUL/2019/0047.

The main plans for considertation are:-

JC-SC Planning 002 Rev B Caravan Details

JC SC Planning 001 Rev B Location and Block Plan

JC SC Planning 003 Rev B Storage Plans

Page 46



Site Description

The application site is located off the A594 between the settlements of Maryport and 
Dearham, within an open countryside location. The static caravan and storage units are 
presently in situ and are being used for residential purposes. The site had previously 
been used for grazing land and is a former disused reservoir. It is the understanding of 
officers that the existing residential use of the site commenced in January 2016. A granite 
gravel driveway/parking area has been laid which extends from a field access.

Access to the site is from the A594.  The level of the land rises from the adjacent 
highway.  A timber fence forms the boundary to the front of the site adjacent to the A594 
with agricultural fields to the east, south and west. This existing fence does not benefit 
from planning permission. 

The site is in Flood Zone 1 and is at the lowest risk of flooding. There are no listed 
buildings, conservation areas or scheduled monuments near to the site. 

Relevant Planning History

None relevant. 

Representations

Councillor P Kendall has called the application in for a decision by the Development 
Panel.  

Town/Parish  Council

Raise concerns about how the site is being developed.

ABC Environmental Health

No objections.

Cumbria County Highways

Object to the proposed development for the following reasons:

- The existing access by which vehicles associated with this proposal would leave 
and re-join the county highway is unsatisfactory since the required visibility of 120 
metres x 2.4 metres cannot be achieved at the junction with the county highway 
and therefore, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the intensification of 
use which would result from the proposed development is unacceptable in terms 
of highway safety.

- The application site has insufficient frontage with the county highway to provide an 
access with adequate visibility for and of emerging vehicles, with consequent 

Page 47



danger to all users of the county highway.

County Council Minerals and Waste

No objections.

The application has been advertised by press advert and site notice. No representations 
have been received to date.

Environmental Impact Assessment

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017

 The development does not fall within Schedule 1 or 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development.

Duties

None relevant. 

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 – Development Principles 
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
Policy S22 - Transport principles 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S30 – Re-use of land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 – Landscape
Policy DM2 – Rural Workers Dwellings
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM16 – Sequential Test  for Previously Developed Land 

Page 48



Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Allerdale Council Plan 2019 - 2023

Economic Opportunity and Growth

Support Allerdale businesses to thrive and grow, attract new businesses to the 
area and create quality jobs.

Quality Places to Live

Working to make sure that we have attractive and welcoming places and spaces; 
and the right homes in the right places to meet our resident’s needs and support 
well planned growth. 

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Great 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 
full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers. 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
For decision taking this means approving development that accords with an up to date 
plan or where policies are out of date, granting permission unless:

i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the development, or

     ii.    Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh    
the benefits, when assessed against the policies of the Framework taken as a whole. 

Page 49



Point (ii) applies to this proposed development.

Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they are not 
considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 
1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they 
are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In this instance, it is assessed that 
the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its 
consistency with the sustainability principles of the NPPF 2019 as can the criteria a) to f) 
of policy S5. Other polices within the Part 1 Local Plan maintain their full weight.

Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework. The revised settlement 
boundaries of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 are afforded limited weight at this stage. 

Assessment

Principle of development

Local Plan policy S1 sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development which 
reflects advice contained within the revised NPPF. Local Plan policy S3 sets out the 
Council’s spatial strategy for growth over the plan period and sets out a scale of housing 
growth within a settlement hierarchy, to ensure development is delivered sustainably. 

The site lies in the open countryside, beyond the settlement limits of either Maryport or 
Dearham, as defined on the saved settlement limits of the 1999 Plan and as defined 
within the Part 2 Submission Draft. The application site does not lie close to or relate well 
to either of these established settlements. Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 
states that proposals outside of the defined settlement limits will only be acceptable in 
certain circumstances, defined by criteria (a) to (j). None of the criteria (a) to (j) are 
considered to be applicable in this instance. The proposed dwelling does not comprise of 
housing for a rural worker in the operation of a rural based enterprise. Whilst Officer’s 
note that an application has been made concurrently for a dog kennels business at the 
same site, Policy DM2 sets out clearly that new permanent rural workers dwellings will 
only be accepted where there is an established business unit that has been profitable 
and economically viable for three years. This is not the case in this instance. Further 
Policy DM2 states that the stationing of a caravan for a limited time period may be 
acceptable to establish whether a new rural enterprise is viable over a three year period. 
There is no established rural business in this instance, and the concurrent application for 
dog kennels is recommended for refusal. Nor has the applicant indicated that the 
permission for the siting of a caravan is on a temporary basis. As such, the proposal 
does not meet the criteria of Policy S3 or DM2 of the ALP Part 1 for housing in the open 
countryside essential for rural worker in a land based enterprise. 

The proposal is therefore considered to be inappropriate and unsustainable development 
in an open countryside location, contrary to policies S3 and DM2 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan and advice contained at paragraph 79 of the NPPF. Further, such inappropriate 
development would erode and be visually harmful to the open character of the 

Page 50



countryside at this location, contrary to policy S33 of the ALP Part 1 and advice at 
paragraph 170 of the NPPF.   

Previously developed land 

Policy S5 ‘Development Principles’ states that, “where available and if appropriate the 
Council will encourage and prioritise the effective reuse of previously developed land and 
buildings or vacant and underused land”. Policy S30 ‘Reuse of Land’ states that “the 
Council will encourage and where appropriate prioritise the effective reuse of previously 
developed and vacant sites within the Plan Area”. 

These policy strands have consistency with the revised NPPF. The NPPF defines 
previously developed land as:- “Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, 
including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the 
whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface 
infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry 
buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by 
landfill, where provision for restoration has been made through development 
management procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, 
recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously developed but where the 
remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the 
landscape.” 

In this instance, it is considered that the lawful use of the land is for grazing purposes and 
the proposal therefore does not respond to and, therefore, accrue the benefits derived 
from prioritising previously developed land in policies S5 and S30 of the adopted Local 
Plan and from the NPPF. 

Sustainability, Access and Parking

Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is located 
in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access to public 
transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private motor vehicles. 
These policies accord with Paragraph 32 of the NPPF which seek to ensure sustainable 
transport modes are maximised and development is safe and accessible. Policy S5 
requires that new development includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and 
access. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states, ‘Development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’. 

The Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for Journeys 
on Foot’ (2000) considers acceptable walking distances for planning and evaluation 
purposes and indicates that for commuting/school a distance of 500m is desirable, 
1000m is acceptable and 2000m is the preferred maximum. For other journeys (such as 
shops), 400m is desirable, 800m is acceptable and 1200m is the preferred maximum.  

The site lies approx. 2.0km from the main thoroughfares of Senhouse Street and Curzon 

Page 51



Street in Maryport and between 1 and 2km from the main amenities provided within the 
village of Dearham. With the exception of a small number of amenities, the majority of 
everyday needs are likely to be located at the preferred maximum or beyond. Whilst a 
regular bus service runs along the A594, the bus stops are not conveniently located to 
the site. No footpath is provided to the site frontage and whilst one extends from 
Maryport to Dearham on the opposite side of the road, this footpath is not lit for a 
significant distance in either direction and there are no crossing facilities for this busy 
thoroughfare. As such, the site is not considered to be in a sustainable location.  
In reality, the trips undertaken, especially during winter and times of inclement weather, 
are going to be made by car. Such substantial reliance on car borne trips is not 
sustainable. Journeys by car are not minimised and the proposal is therefore considered 
to be contrary to policy S22 of the ALP Part 1 and advice contained within the NPPF.  
 
Access to the site is from the A594 and utilises a field gate that was present before the 
static caravan was placed on site.  Cumbria County Council as the Highways Authority 
has recommended refusal of the application on the basis that the access from the A594 
site is considered to be unacceptable. They advise that the road has a bend in it which 
prevents the required visibility splay for a 40mph speed road, which should achieve 120m 
as a minimum, in both directions, 2.4m back from the edge of the carriageway. Further, 
the Highways Authority advise that the application site has insufficient frontage with the 
county highway to provide an access with adequate visibility for and of emerging 
vehicles, with consequent danger to all users of the county highway. 
Based upon the advice received from the Highways Authority, it is considered that the 
proposed development cannot achieve a suitable access, to the detriment of highway 
safety.  

Landscape and visual impact

Policy S4 ‘Design Principles’ states that achieving high quality design for all 
development is a key objective of the Local Plan. Policy DM14 ‘Standards of Good 
Design’ sets out guidance on housing density, design and layout of new development 
and landscaping within a development. Policy S33 ‘Landscape’ also requires landscape 
character and local distinctiveness to be protected, conserved and where possible 
enhanced. 

The application site is located within an open countryside setting clearly outside the 
settlement limit of any town. As discussed briefly above, development of housing at this 
location is considered to be sporadic development in this open and rural locality, that 
would adversely impact on the character and appearance of the area. The proposal 
does not relate to the built environment, resulting in an incongruous development that 
would have an adverse effect on the landscape character and visual amenities of the 
locality, eroding the identity and rural character of this location, contrary to policies S4 
and S33 of the ALP Part 1. 

Further, the proposal seeks the permanent stationing of a static caravan at this location. 
The static caravan and the associated container structures and perimeter fencing all 
combine to provide a poor standard of design for a permanent dwelling in a sensitive 
and somewhat elevated rural location. The proposal therefore raises conflict with policy 
S4 and DM14 of the ALP Part 1.

Page 52



Benefits of the proposal

There would be benefits accrued from the proposal in terms of the contribution it would 
make to the provision of housing in the Borough. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have 
financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax Revenue. 

Conclusions

The location of the proposal within the open countryside without any essential need is 
considered to be an inappropriate and unsustainable form of development. Further 
adverse impacts of the proposal relate to harm to the landscape character and visual 
amenities of the locality, a poor standard of housing design and an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety. Future residents of the proposal would be highly reliant on the 
private car, adding further to the unsustainable nature of the proposal. The adverse 
impacts of the proposal are significant and are considered to demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Local Plan and National Planning 
Policy Framework taken as a whole. 

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE AND PURSUE ENFORCEMENT ACTION TO SEEK REMOVAL OF 
CARAVAN AND ASSOCIATED STRUCTURES.

Page 53



Annex 1

REASONS FOR REFUSAL

1. The proposal would constitute non-essential housing development within an 
open countryside location, with insufficient justification of any need to meet the 
criteria of policies S3 or DM2 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be an inappropriate and unsustainable form of 
development.

2. The proposal would constitute an incongruous and unsympathetic urban 
encroachment into an open countryside location, of poor quality and standard of 
design. The proposal would be un-related to the built environment and would 
result in erosion of the distinctive rural and open character of the landscape, 
harmful to the visual amenities of the locality. The proposal is therefore 
considered to be contrary to policies S4, S32, S33 and DM14 adopted Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

3. The proposal would constitute an unsustainable form of development due to the 
distance to local services and amenities along an unlit footpath to the opposite 
side of the A594, with no crossing facilities. The proposal would therefore result 
in an unsustainable reliance on car-borne journeys to access services and 
facilities contrary to policies S1, S2 and S22 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan 
Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019.

4. The proposal would result in the intensification of an existing substandard access 
by way of a lack of achievable visibility. The site is considered to have insufficient 
frontage with the highway to provide an access with adequate visibility for and of 
emerging vehicles. The proposal will therefore have an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, contrary to policies S5 and S22 of the adopted Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019.

Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application FUL/2019/0047

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: FUL/2019/0047
Valid Date: 28/02/2019
Location: Firth View  Maryport
Applicant: Miss Joanne Fletcher 
Proposal: Erection of boarding kennels for new business

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE

Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development The development is not considered 
acceptable due to its location within the 
open countryside.

Design, landscape and visual impact The proposed development is considered 
unacceptable in terms of its siting and 
appearance, an incongruous feature in the 
locality resulting in a significant adverse 
visual impact

Access and parking The proposal is not considered acceptable 
and would result in detriment to highway 
safety

Residential amenity Insufficient information has been provided 
to demonstrate that the proposal would not 
cause detriment to the amenity of existing 
residential properties 

Proposal

The application seeks planning permission for the erection of commercial boarding 
kennels.  The proposed building would provide 10 kennels.  The applicant is presently 
living on the site in an unauthorised static caravan which is currently being considered 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



under planning application FUL/2019/0014.

The Plans for considertaion are:-

SWRS-001 Surface Water Drainage Report
JC-BK-Planning-006 Rev A- Proposed Elevations
JC-BK-Planning-004 Rev A Proposed Drainage Plan
JC-BK-Planning-005 Rev A Proposed Floor Plan
JC-BK-Planning-003 Rev A Proposed Site Plan
JC-BK-Planning-001 Location Plan 
Design and Access Statement

Site

The application site is located to the east of Maryport beyond the defined settlement limit 
and developed envelope of this town.  An unauthorised static caravan is presently in situ 
and is being used for residential purposes. The site has previously been used for grazing 
and is a former disused reservoir. It is located 144 metres east of the nearest 
dwellinghouse. It is the understanding of officers that the existing residential use of the 
site commenced in January 2016. A timber shed and container are situated next to the 
caravan and a granite gravel driveway/parking area has been laid. The proposed kennels 
are to be located in the NE corner of the site adjacent to the existing access drive.  

Access to the site is from the A594 county highway.  The level of the land steps up from 
the adjacent access road.  A timber fence forms the boundary to the front of the site 
adjacent to the A594 with agricultural fields to the East, South and West.

The site is in Flood Zone 1 and is not at risk of flooding. There are no listed buildings, 
conservation areas or scheduled monuments near to the Site. 

Relevant Planning History

FUL/2019/0014 – Siting of static caravan as living accommodation – pending (members 
will note that this applications is intended also to be considered at this meeting of the 
Panel.

Representations

Town/Parish  Council

No reply to date 

ABC Environmental Health

Additional information required to assess impact of proposal on amenity of residential 
properties

Page 58



Cumbria County Highways

Object to the proposed development for the following reasons:

1. The existing access, by which vehicles associated with this proposal would leave 
and re-join the county highway, is unsatisfactory since the required visibility of 120 
metres x 2.4 metres cannot be achieved at the junction with the county highway 
and therefore, the intensification of use which would result from the proposed 
development is        unacceptable in terms of highway safety.
Reason: To support Local Transport Plan Policy: LD7, LD8

2. The application site has insufficient frontage with the county highway
           to provide an access with adequate visibility for and of emerging
           vehicles, with consequent danger to all users of the county highway.

Reason: To support Local Transport Plan Policy: LD7, LD8

3. The proposed development does not make adequate on-site parking
           provision for vehicles visiting the site and would therefore encourage
           such vehicles to park on the highway with consequent additional
           danger to all users of the road and interference with the free flow of
           traffic.

      Reason: To support Local Transport Plan Policy: LD7, LD8

County Council Minerals and Waste

No objections

United Utilities
   
No objections subject to drainage scheme being implemented in accordance with                
surface water drainage hierarchy 

The application has been advertised by a site notice.

No other representations have been received.

Environmental Impact Assessment

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017

 The development does not fall within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development.

Page 59



Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design principles  
Policy S14 - Rural economy
Policy S22 - Transport principles 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 – Landscape
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design

Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Allerdale Borough Council Plan:

• Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where they 
are needed. 

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Great 

Page 60



Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 
full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers. 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
For decision taking this means approving development that accords with an up to date 
plan or where policies are out of date, granting permission unless:

i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the development, or

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies of the Framework taken as a 
whole. 

In this instance criterion ii. applies. 

Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they are not 
considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 
1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they 
are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In this instance, other polices within 
the Part 1 Local Plan maintain their full weight.

Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework. 
There are no relevant part 2 policies. 

Assessment:

Principle of development

The applicant proposes a new purpose built dog kennel that would incorporate 10 
kennels, storage, office and welfare facilities and canine exercise area.  The site is 
situated within the open countryside on previously undeveloped land.  It is accepted that 
a dog kennels business is particularly suited to a location away from larger residential 
areas and that it would comply with criteria j) of policy S3 which states that development 
may be permitted where it requires a countryside location for technical and operational 
reasons. However, the successful operation of the kennels would also require living 
accommodation on site. Although this accommodation exists on site, it is unauthorised.

In the absence of on-site accommodation, the proposal becomes unsustainable as it will 
be reliant on car-borne journeys to access the site. Pedestrian access would necessitate 
the crossing of a main road (A594) to get from/to a footway. Visibility is particularly poor 
eastwards at the proposed point of access resulting in safety issues for pedestrians, the 
speed limit being 40mph along this stretch. It is also noted that the footway (and the 
roadway) is not lit. This is not conducive or safe for pedestrians travelling to and from the 
site for management and care of the dogs. Given the nature of the business, it is not only 

Page 61



inevitable but also a necessity that trips would need to be taken outside of daylight hours. 
It is also suggested that for a number of reasons, including security and animal welfare, 
that on-site management of the use is required. 

Scale and design

The site is situated within a clear open countryside break between the settlements of 
Maryport and Dearham. The character of this landscape is grazing land set high above 
Maryport and the Solway Coast. The break is clearly legible as one traverses the A594 
between the two settlements. The continuous roadside development is lost as is street 
lighting. Instead there are filed hedgerows and trees on the northside and a stone wall 
and grazing land rising way from the road on the south (site) side. 

In this context, the siting and external appearances proposed would appear prominent 
and would result in the complex being clearly visible from the A594.  The kennels are 
proposed to be constructed in red brick. This material and hue are not characteristic of 
the built features within the local landscape; stone and painted render being prevalent. 
The impact is increased with the proposed 1,800mm high chain link fencing to enclose 
the outside runs. The kennels and the fencing is also close to the road and on elevated 
ground which will result in a significant, incongruous change to the view from the road. 
This road is considered to be a sensitive visual receptor given the vehicular flows along it 
and that the eye is drawn to the openings in and around the site frontage towards the 
higher countryside. 
The cumulative visual impact is considered to be substantially adverse The proposed 
materials are not considered acceptable and would result in an incongruous feature that 
is not sympathetic with the site or its immediate surroundings.

Access and Parking

Access to the site is from the A594 county highway.  Cumbria County Council as the 
Highways Authority and the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have advised;

“Similar as to application FUL/2019/0014 the proposed access from A594 Highway 
maintainable at public expense to the private site is considered unacceptable. The
road has a bend in it which prevents the required visibility splay for 40mph speed
road (mistakenly stated 60mph in the previous application) which should be 120m
at the minimum in both directions back by 2.4m and at a height of 1.05m above the 
carriageway. Drivers need to be able to see obstructions 2m high down to a point of 
600mm above the carriageway. Within the visibility splay or sight line envelope there 
should be no obstructions to vision such as walls or vegetation etc. within the vertical 
profile. If any obstructions need to be reduced or removed within the visibility splay, it 
should be within the applicant’s ownership.
Design of the access does not allow for two cars passing each other, which will lead to 
vehicles waiting on the highway and this is unacceptable for the safety reasons.
Proposed parking is also not appropriate for the proposed development, we would 
require a minimum of 7 car parking spaces for the visitors, staff and delivery.”

Officers acknowledge and concur with the County Highways Authority’s advice. The 
proposal is unacceptable for three highways related reasons:-

Page 62



1) The required visibility splays cannot be achieved within land in the applicant’s 
control with consequent danger to highway safety.

2) The single lane access would result in vehicles waiting to enter the site having to 
wait on the A594 with consequent danger to highway safety given that 
approaching vehicles, especially from the east, would have limited visibility of the 
stationary vehicle as they approach at speeds of up to 40mph. 

3) The inadequate on-site parking has the potential to result in vehicles being parked 
on the A594 with its associated dangers presented by the limited visibility on this 
road. This is a particular consideration given people are likely to be delivering or 
collecting dogs. 

Drainage 

The application form states that the foul sewage will be disposed via the main sewer and 
surface water would be discharged to a soakaway on site.  Whilst a full surface water 
drainage scheme has not accompanied the application, it is considered that an 
appropriate drainage scheme can be provided on site in accordance with Policies S2 and 
S29 which could be controlled by condition.

Residential amenity

The proposed development has the potential to impact upon the residential amenity of 
existing properties in terms of noise.  Whilst the brick structure would minimise noise 
from the kennels, the external exercise area is proposed to be enclosed with a chain link 
fence which is not a means of enclosure that could mitigate noise from the use of this 
facility.  Whilst mitigation is possible given the distance to other properties, insufficient 
information has been provided to demonstrate that the proposal would not cause 
detriment to the amenity of residential properties in terms of noise disturbance.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have 
financial implications arising from Business Rates. 

Conclusions

Kennels have the potential to be acceptable in countryside locations but this 
development is not considered to be sustainable given the absence of authorised on-
site living accommodation and lack of safe and attractive non-car access. There are 
also significant and demonstrable visual impact and highway safety concerns. These 
outweigh the very limited benefits of the proposal. 

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE 

Page 63



Annex 1

REASONS FOR REFUSAL

1. In the absence of authorised on-site living accommodation and safe and 
convenient non-car access to the site, the proposal constitutes unsustainable 
development in the open countryside contrary to policy S3 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

2. The proposed development is considered unacceptable in terms of its siting and 
appearance, an incongruous feature in the locality resulting in a significant 
adverse visual impact contrary to policies S2, S4 and S33 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

3. The existing access by which vehicles associated with this proposal would leave 
and re-join the county highway is unsatisfactory since the required visibility of 
120 metres x 2.4 metres cannot be achieved at the junction with the county 
highway. In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the intensification of use 
which would result from the proposed development is unacceptable in terms of
highway safety contrary to policies S2, S4 and S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan  
2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

4. The proposed access is of insufficient width to permit vehicles to pass resulting in 
vehicles waiting to enter the site having to wait within the county highway to the 
detriment of highway safety contrary to policies S2, S4 and S33 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019.

5. The proposed development does not make adequate on-site parking provision 
for vehicles visiting the site and would therefore encourage such vehicles to park 
on the highway with consequent additional danger to all users of the road and 
interference with the free flow of traffic contrary to policies S2, S4 and S33 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

6. Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the proposed 
development would not result in detriment to the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties in terms of noise disturbance contrary to policy S32 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan.

Page 64



Page 65



Page 66


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 2/2018/0537- Land at The Fitz, Low Road, Cockermouth- Outline application for residential development of 27 dwellings including access junction, layout and appearance for plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping for buffer zone only.
	6 FUL/2019/0014- Firth View, Dearham, Maryport- Siting of a static caravan as living accommodation
	7 FUL/2019/0047- Firth View, Dearham, Maryport- Erection of boarding kennels for new business

